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MOTION AND PROCEDURAL RULINGS

2019-1482. State v. Whitaker.

Cuyahoga C.P. No. CR-17-614021-A. On motion for leave to file delayed appeal.
Motion granted. The parties shall brief this case in accordance with the Rules of
Practice of the Supreme Court of Ohio.

2019-1530. State v. Harrop.

Fayette App. No. CA2018-12-028, 2019-Ohio-3230. On motion for leave to file

delayed appeal. Motion denied. :
Fischer, J., dissents.

2019-1534. State v. Brown.
Columbiana App. No. 18 CO 0025, 2019-Ohio-2717. On motion for leave to file
delayed appeal. Motion denied.

Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1554. State v. Ridenbaugh.
Licking App. No. 18-CA-96, 2019-Ohio-3564. On motion for leave to file delayed
appeal. Motion denied.

French, Donnelly, and Stewart, JJ., dissent.




2019-1572. State v. Taylor.
Fayette App. No. CA2018-11-021, 2019-Ohio-3437. On motion for leave to file
delayed appeal. Motion granted. Appellant shall file a memorandum in support of
jurisdiction within 30 days.

O’Connor, C.J., and DeWine, J., dissent.

2019-1591. State v. Ranson.
Franklin App. No. 18AP-841, 2019-Ohio-2140. On motion for leave to file delayed
appeal. Motion denied.

Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1601. State v. Knox.
Lorain App. No. 17CA011233, 2019-Ohio-2265. On motion for leave to file
delayed appeal. Motion denied.

Donnelly and Stewart, JJ., dissent.

2019-1603. State v. Johnson.
Lucas App. No. L-18-1222, 2019-Ohio-3813. On motion for leave to file delayed
appeal. Motion denied.

French and Fischer, JJ., dissent.

2019-1619. State v. Cook.
Auglaize App. No. 2-18-21, 2019-Ohio-3610. On motion for leave to file delayed
appeal. Motion granted. Appellant shall file a memorandum in support of
jurisdiction within 30 days.

O’Connor, C.J., and DeWine, J., dissent.

2019-1621. State v. Hope.
Trumbull App. No. 2018-T-0053, 2019-Ohio-2174. On motion for leave to file
delayed appeal. Motion denied.

2019-1625. State v. Young.
Erie App. No. E-18-042, 2019-Ohio-3819. On motion for leave to file delayed

appeal. Motion denied.
French and Fischer, JJ., dissent.
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2019-1631. State v. Williams.
Montgomery App. No. 27919, 2019-Ohio-4105. On motion for leave to file delayed
appeal. Motion granted. Appellant shall file a memorandum in support of
jurisdiction within 30 days.

Stewart, J., would also appoint counsel.

Kennedy, J., dissents.

2019-1632. State v. Latham.
Hamilton App. No. C-170571. On motion for leave to file delayed appeal. Motion
denied. '

Fischer, Donnelly, and Stewart, JJ., dissent.

2019-1633. State v. Jackson.
Stark App. No. 2019CA00136. On motion for leave to file delayed appeal. Motion
denied.

Donnelly, J., dissents.

APPEALS ACCEPTED FOR REVIEW

2019-1410. State v. Chapman.
Lorain App. No. 18CA011377, 2019-Ohio-3535.
Kennedy, J., dissents.

2019-1411. State v. Anderson.
Lorain App. No. 18CA011376, 2019-Ohio-3534. Sua sponte, cause held for the
decision in 2019-1410, State v. Chapman.

Stewart, J., would not hold the cause.

Kennedy, J., dissents.

2019-1429. State v. Clipps.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107747, 2019-Ohio-3569. Appeal accepted and cross-appeal
not accepted. Sua sponte, cause held for the decision in 2019-0606, State v.

Townsend.
Kennedy, J., would not accept the appeal.
Donnelly and Stewart, JJ., would accept the cross-appeal.

2019-1430. State v. Dowdy.

Cuyahoga App. No. 107844, 2019-Ohio-3570.
O’Connor, C.J., and Kennedy, J., dissent.
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2019-1460. State v. Smith.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107956, 2019-Ohio-3769. Sua sponte, cause held for the
decision in 2019-0948, State v. Miller.

2019-1481. Welsh-Huggins v. Office of the Jefferson Cty. Prbs. Atty.
Jefferson App. No. 19 JE 0005, 2019-Ohio-3967.
O’Connor, C.J., and DeWine, J., dissent.

2019-1485. In re S.M.
Logan App. Nos. 8-18-46, 8-18-47, 8-18-55, and 8-18-56. Appeal accepted on
proposition of law No. I and cause held for the decision in 2018-1842, In re N.M.P.
Kennedy, J., would accept the appeal on both propositions of law and would
not hold the cause.
French and DeWine, JJ., dissent.

2019-1494. West v. Bode.
Monroe App. No. 18 MO 0017, 2019-Ohio-4092.
O’Connor, C.J., and DeWine and Stewart, JJ., dissent.

2019-1498. Rayco Mfg., Inc. v. Murphy, Rogers, Sloss & Gambel.
Cuyahoga App. No. 106714, 2018-Ohio-4782.

DeWine, J., would accept the appeal on proposition of law Nos. I through III
only.

Donnelly, J., dissents.

Stewart, J., not participating.

2019-1510. State v. Reed.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108498, 2019-Ohio-4471.

DeWine and Donnelly, JJ., would hold the cause for the decision in 2019-
1430, State v. Dowdy.

Stewart, J., would also appoint counsel.

O’Connor, C.J., and Kennedy and Fischer, JJ., dissent.

2019-1646. State v. Adams.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108083, 2019-Ohio-4259. Sua sponte, cause held for the

decision in 2018-0444, State v. Jones.
Kennedy, Fischer, and DeWine, JJ., dissent.
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APPEALS NOT ACCEPTED FOR REVIEW

2019-0973. State v. King.
Warren App. No. CA2018-04-047, 2019-Ohio-833.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1188. State v. Ross.
Ottawa App. No. OT-19-008.

2019-1268. Medina Cty. Law Library Resources Bd. v. RELX, Inc.
Medina App. No. 19CA0019-M.
Kennedy, J., dissents.

2019-1303. Verhoff v. Verhoff.
Allen App. No. 1-18-66, 2019-Ohio-3836.

2019-1397. State v. Lane.
Cuyahoga App. No. 109022.

2019-1398. State v. Martre.
Allen App. No. 1-19-49.

2019-1404. State v. Perry.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108258, 2019-Ohio-3668.

2019-1413. Nau v. Stonebridge Operating Co., L.L.C.
Noble App. No. 19 NO 0466, 2019-Ohio-3647.
Kennedy, J., dissents.

2019-1416. State v. Crockett.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108091, 2019-Ohio-3665.
Stewart, J., not participating.

2019-1417. State v. Newton.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107195, 2019-Ohio-3566.

2019-1419. State v. Elliott.
Hamilton App. No. C-180294, 2019-Ohio-3594.
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2019-1420. State v. Sandersoz.
Montgomery App. No. 28149, 2019-Ohio-3589.

2019-1424. State v. Skatzes.
Montgomery App. No. 28212, 2019-Ohio-3590.

2019-1426. State v. Truss.
Franklin App. No. 18AP-147, 2019-Ohio-3579.

2019-1427. Inre S.M.B.
Franklin App. No. 17AP-899, 2019-Ohio-3578.

2019-1431. State v. Jones.
Wood App. No. WD-18-042, 2019-Ohio-3602.

2019-1434. Anderson v. Jancoa Janitorial Servs.
Butler App. No. CA2019-01-018, 2019-Ohio-3617.

Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1435. Sohi v. Sycamore Twp. Bd. of Trustees.

Hamilton App. No. C-180288.

2019-1436. In re D.T.
Summit App. No. 29516.

2019-1437. State v. Moscoso.

Muskingum App. No. CT2018-0012, 2018-Ohio-2877.

2019-1439. State v. Smith.
Hamilton App. No. C-180081, 2019-Ohio-3642.
Fischer and DeWine, JJ., not participating.

2019-1441. State v. Lewis.
Knox App. No. 19 CA 000001, 2019-Ohio-3630.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1443. State v. Cook.
Fairfield App. No. 18-CA-43, 2019-Ohio-3650.
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2019-1445. Meinerding v. Coldwater Exempted Village School Dist. Bd. of Edn.
Mercer App. No. 10-19-06, 2019-Ohio-3611.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1448. Korengel v. Little Miami Golf Ctr.
Hamilton App. No. C-180416, 2019-Ohio-3681.
Kennedy, J., dissents.
Fischer and DeWine, JJ., not participating.

2019-1449. Ayers v. KCI Technologies, Inc.
Portage App. No. 2018-P-0087, 2019-Ohio-3614.
Kennedy, French, and Fischer, JJ., dissent.

2019-1458. Hiss v. Perkins Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn.
Erie App. No. E-18-034, 2019-Ohio-3703.

French, J., dissents and would accept the appeal on proposition of law Nos. I
and II.

2019-1461. Dunlop v. Dept. of Job & Family Servs.
Franklin App. No. 19AP-58, 2019-Ohio-3632.

2019-1462. State v. Baskerville.
Summit App. No. 29327, 2019-Ohio-3639.

2019-1467. State v. Green.
Wood App. No. WD-18-029, 2019-Ohio-1176.

2019-1473. Harris v. Certificate of Qualification of Emp. Petition.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107828, 2019-Ohio-3658.
Kennedy and Fischer, JJ., dissent.

2019-1474. State v. Mathis.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107365, 2019-Ohio-3654.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1475. McQuistan v. State.
Medina App. No. 18CA0104-M, 2019-Ohio-3612.
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2019-1480. State v. Brown.
Preble App. No. CA2016-07-006, 2017-Ohio-4231.
Donnelly, J., dissents and would appoint counsel.

2019-1484. State v. Austin.
Mahoning App. No. 16MA0068.

2019-1486. State v. Powell.
Ashland App. No. 19-COA-022, 2019-Ohio-3853.

2019-1487. Putnam Cty. Bd. of Commrs. v. Maag.
Putnam App. No. 12-19-02, 2019-Ohio-3720.

2019-1488. Putnam Cty. Bd. of Commrs. v. Weis.
Putnam App. No. 12-19-01, 2019-Ohio-3720.

2019-1489. Putnam Cty. Bd. of Commrs. v. Patrick Bros.
Putnam App. Nos. 12-18-11 and 12-18-12, 2019-Ohio-3722.

2019-1491. McHugh v. Fraser.
Jefferson App. No. 18-JE-0020, 2019-Ohio-3733.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1500. Murray v. Aute-Owners Ins. Co.
Erie App. No. E-18-060, 2019-Ohio-3816.

2019-1501. Cincinnati v. Triton Servs., Inc.
Hamilton App. No. C-170705, 2019-Ohio-3108.
DeWine, J., not participating.

2019-1503. State v. Moore.
Ashtabula App. No. 2018-A-0050.

2019-1508. Inre L.B.S.
Wayne App. Nos. 18AP0010 and 18AP007. 7
Kennedy, French, and Stewart, JJ., dissent.

2019-1513. State v. Keller.
Delaware App. No. 18CAA090075, 2019-Ohio-3857.
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2019-1514. State v. Reese.
Muskingum App. No. CT201 9-0033, 2019-Ohio-3453.

2019-1516. Baker v. Al Sobb Automotive Serv.
Lucas App. No. L-18-1141.

2019-1517. State v. Group.
Mahoning App. No. 18 MA 0098, 2019-Ohio-3958.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1518. State v. Thundercloud.
Muskingum App. No. CT2018-0048, 201 9-Ohio-2471.
French, J., dissents.

2019-1519. State v. Williams.
Butler App. No. CA2018-10-205, 2019-Ohio-3829.

2019-1520. State v. Millhouse.
Crawford App. No. 3-19-06.
French, J., dissents.

2019-1521. McCullough v. Youngstown City School Dist.
Mahoning App. No. 18 MA 0075, 2019-Ohio-3965.

2019-1523. State v. George.
Medina App. No. 19CA0037-M, 2019-Ohio-3823.

2019-1525. Y.H.v. C.C.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108175, 2019-Ohio-4066.

2019-1527. Estate of Ciotto v. Hinkle.
Huron App. No. H-2018-11,
O’Connor, C.J., dissents and would accept the appeal on proposition of law

No. L.
French, J., dissents and would accept the appeal on proposition of law Nos. I
and II.

2019-1528. State v. August.
Warren App. No. CA2018-12-136, 2019-Ohio-4126.
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2019-1536. State v. George.
Summit App. No. CA29292.

2019-1539. State v. Oreozco-Islas.
Stark App. No. 2019CA00127.

2019-1548. State v. Hill.
Montgomery App. No. 28110, 2019-Ohio-3921.

2019-1568. State v. Schmidt.
Lake App. No. 2018-L-068, 2019-Ohio-3990.

2019-1570. State v. Adams.
Mahoning App. No. 18 MA 0116, 2019-Ohio-4090.

2019-1571. State v. Greene.
Franklin App. No. 17AP-238, 2019-Ohio-4010.
Fischer, J., dissents and would accept the appeal on proposition of law No. L.

2019-1574. State v. Bolling.
Montgomery App. No. 28321, 2019-Ohio-4093.
Donnelly, J., dissents and would appoint counsel.

2019-1575. State v. Marques.
Franklin App. No. 17AP-849, 2019-Ohio-42.
French, J., not participating.

2019-1577. State v. Hunt.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107125, 2019-Ohio-4053.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1580. Jacobs v. Dye Oil, L.L.C.
Monroe App. No. 18 MO 0020, 2019-Ohio-4085.

French, J., dissents and would remand the cause for application of Browne v.
Artex Oil Co., __ Ohio St.3d __,2019-Ohijo-4809, _ N.E.3d __.

2019-1586. Harrison v. Horizon Women’s Healthcare, L.L.C.
Montgomery App. No. CA 28154, 2019-Ohio-3 528.
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2019-1590. State ex rel. Zamborsky v. Ghio Bd. of Embalmers & Funeral Dirs.
Franklin App. No. 18AP-768, 2019-Ohio-4016.
French, J., dissents.

2019-1593. State v. Rockey.
Clark App. No. 2018-CA-98, 2019-Ohio-4101.

2019-1596. State v. Fetherolf.
Union App. No. 14-19-23.
Donnelly, J., dissents and would appoint counsel.

2019-1608. State v. Minifee.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108331, 2019-Ohio-4464.

2019-1609. State v. Taylor.
Cuyahoga App. No. 108320, 2019-Ohio-4357.
Stewart, J., not participating.

2019-1629. State v. McClellan.
Highland App. No. 18CA0011.
Donnelly, J., dissents.

2019-1637. State v. Bevins.

Hamilton App. No. C-190218.
Donnelly, J., dissents and would appoint counsel.
Fischer and DeWine, JJ., not participating.

2019-1643. State v. Hale.
Summit App. No. 29096, 2019-Ohio-3466.

2019-1649. State v. Owens.
Wayne App. No. 19AP0051.
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RECONSIDERATION OF PRIOR DECISIONS

2018-0237. Shelly Materials, Inc. v. Streetsboro Planning & Zoning Comm.
Portage App. No. 2017-P-0025, 2017-Ohio-9342. Reported at  Ohio St.3d __,
2019-Ohio-4499, N.E.3d . On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.
O’Connor, C.J., and DeWine and Zimmerman, JJ., dissent.
William Zimmerman, J., of the Third District Court of Appeals, sitting for
French, J.

2019-0032. State ex rel. Parker v. Russo.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107686, 2018-Ohio-4903. Reported at _ Ohio St.3d __, 2019-
Ohio-4420, N.E.3d . On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.

2019-0108. State ex rel. Parker Bey v. Bracy.
Trumbull App. No. 2018-T-0090, 2018-Ohio-5337. Reported at __ Ohio St.3d _,
2019-Ohio-4420, N.E.3d . On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.

2019-0988. V.R.T. v. Celebrezze.

Cuyahoga App. No. 108116, 2019-Ohio-2241. Reported at 157 Ohio St.3d 14382,

2019-Ohio-4474, 134 N.E.3d 199. On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.
French and Donnelly, JJ., dissent.

2019-1131. State v. Leannais.
Cuyahoga App. No. 107167, 2019-Ohio-2568. Reported at 157 Ohio St.3d 1466,
2019-Ohio-4419, 133 N.E.3d 547. On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.
French, J., dissents.
Stewart, J., dissents and would accept the appeal on proposition of law No. L.

2019-1157. White v. Nelson.
In Procedendo. Reported at 157 Ohio St.3d 1480, 2019-Ohio-4474, 134 N.E.3d 195.
On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.

French, J., not participating.

2019-1172. State v. Irish.

Mercer App. No. 10-18-13, 2019-Ohio-2765. Reported at 157 Ohio St.3d 1434,

2019-Ohio-4600, 134 N.E.3d 207. On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.
French, Donnelly, and Stewart, JJ., dissent.
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2019-1185. Reynolds v. Turull.

Butler App. No. CA 2018-10-197, 2019-Ohio-2863. Reported at 157 Ohio St.3d
1484, 2019-Ohio-4600, 134 N.E.3d 207. On motion for reconsideration. Motion
denied.

Donnelly and Stewart, JJ., dissent.

2019-1265. State ex rel. Hill v. Fender.

In Habeas Corpus. Reported at 157 Ohio St.3d 1481, 2019-Ohio-4474, 134 N.E.3d
198. On motion for reconsideration. Motion denied.
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has been compared by me with the original document and that it is a true and correct copy thereof.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, [ hereunto subscribe my name officially
and affix the seal of said Court, at the Court House, in Hillsboro, Ohio
in and for said County, this 11th day of October, 2019.

DWIGHT ©. HODSON, CLERK
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF OHIO

| FILED
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT HIGHLAND GOUm 5216
HIGHLAND COUNTY 0CT 11 209
HIGHLAND COUNTY CLeRK OF GBURTS
STATE OF OHIO COA Case No. 18CA0011
PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE LOWER COURT CASE # 17CR212
VS
BENJAMIN MCCLELLAN
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT NOTICE OF ENTRY

Pursuant to Appellate Rule 30-A you are hereby notified thata

Decision and Judgment Entry, copy hereto attached, was filed in this Court on

October 11, 2019.

DWIGHT O. HODSON

HIGHLAND COUNTY CLERK OF COURTS
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF orI0 T T L
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT HGHLAND Goshmr s
HIGHLAND COUNTY 0cT 1 2(’]19
STATE OF OHIO, : '
. H:gHZAND COUNTY CLeR
Plaintiff-Appeliee, : Case No. 18CAll or dburms
VS.
. DECISION AND JUDGMENT
BENJAMIN MCCLELLAN, . ENIRY
Defendant-Appellant.
APPEARANCES:

Adam Burke and Eric E. Willison, Columbus, Ohio, for Appellant.

Anneka P. Collins, Highland County Prosecutor, Hillsboro, Ohio, for
Appellee. o

Smith, P. J.

{f1} On May 9, 2018, Benjamin McClellan entered a no contest plea
to one count of rape, R.C. 2907.02(A)(2), a first-degree felony. McClellan
appeals the trial court’s entry of March 21, 2018, in which the trial court
overruled McClellan’s motion to suppress his videotaped confession to
consensual sex with a minor victim. McClellan contends the trial court erred

when it denied his motion because his confession was obtained in

contravention of his Fifth Amendment rights under the United States

Constitution. Based upon our review, we find no coercive police activity
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occurred and thus, find no merit to McClellan’s argument. Accordingly, we
overrule the sole assignment of error and affirm the judgment of the trial
court.

FACTS

{12} Benjamin McClellan, (hereinafter “Appellant”), was indicted by
the Highland County Grand Jury on two counts of rape, violations of R.C,
2907.02(A)(1)(b) and R.C. 2907.02(A)(2). Both counts are felonies of the
first degree. Count One specified unlawful sexual conduct, on or about
April 15, 2017, with a person being less that thirteen years of age. Count
Two alleged sexual conduct, on or about August 28,2017, compelled by
force or threat of force. On December 8, 2017, Appellant was arraigned,
entered pleas of not guilty, and was appointed counsel. Pretrial discovery
ensued.

{93} The counts arose as a result of a report made to Sergeant Aaron
Reynolds. The following facts have been obtained from Reynolds’ affidavit
filed in support of the criminal complaint. On August 31, 2017, AE.
presented to the Hillsboro Police Department with Janet Fair, an employee

of the Scioto Paint Valley Mental Health Center. A.E. reported that
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Appellant and she resided in the same household! and that sometime during
Easter break in 2017, Appellant followed her into her bedroom while she
was changing clothes. Appellant allegedly forced her to allow him to have
sex with her and threatened to hurt her if she told anyone. A.E. stated that
after this occurred, she stayed with other family members over the summer.

{14} A.E. also reported that when she returned home for the school
year in late August, 2017, “[I]t started again.” A.E. tried to avoid Appellant
but she woke up one time and Appeﬂant was having sex with her. She was
unable to stop him.

{95} A.E. was sent to Cincinnati Children’s Hospital where a sexual
assault collection kit was obtained. Sergeant Reynolds obtained A.E.”s gym
shorts and tee shirt that she wore at the time of the most recently-alleged
crime. A.E.’s clothes were sent to the Ohio Bureau of Investigation’s (BCI)
crime lab.

{76} On September 1, 2017, Appellant presented to the Hillsboro
Police Department and spoke with Reynolds. Appellant was first advised of

his Miranda rights. Appellant denied raping A.E. or ever having sexual

intercourse with her. He explained while A.E. was out of town during the

{ The record is not clear as to the familial relationship between Appellant and A.E. Sergeant Reynolds later
testified that A.E. referred to Appellant as her cousin.
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summer he had slept in her bed, masturbated, and had intercourse there with
other females. Appellant stated his DNA “should not be” on her clothing.

{97} On September 15, 2017, results obtained from BCI indicated a
sperm cell was found on the inner crotch area of A.E.’s shorts. On
September 18, 2017, Appellant returned to the police department. A short
interview was conducted. - Appellant was again advised of his Miranda
rights. Appellant consented to collection of his DNA for comparison.

{98} On October 27, 2017, BCI’s representative reported that the
sample collected from Appellant matched the sperm cell located on A.E.’s
shorts. On the same date, Sergeant Reynolds conducted a third interview
with Appellant at the police station. The interview was recorded. Reynolds
began the interview with Appellant by again explaining Appellant’s
Miranda rights.

{19} According to the transcript of the suppression hearing and the
recorded interview, Sergeant Reynolds next explained that the DNA results
revealed Appellant’s sperm inside A.E.’s shorts. Sergeant Reynolds further
explained that the BCI scientist told him that it would have had to be in A.E.

or on her to fall onto the crotch area. Sergeant Reynolds stated, “So with

that being said, I think now is the time to be very _forthcoming.”
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{910} Appellant immediately denied having any sexual conduct with
A.E. He informed that it was possible that he had masturbated in the
bathroom area, picked up some clothes to wipe himself, and the sperm
transferred in that manner to A.E.’s clothes. Sergeant Reynolds’ statements
during the interview, which Appellant challenges as coercive, are set forth
fully below. Ultimately, Appellant confessed as follows:

“Um so one night, I got really, really drunk. It was all - -1

had consensual sex with A. E., one time. I was really,

really drunk. I got up to go throw up in the bathroom.

She followed me in and it just kind of happened.”

Thereafter, Appellant was immediately placed under arrest.

{411} During the pretrial proceediﬁgs, Appellant’s counsel filed a
motion to suppress Appellant’s confession to consensual sex with A.E.
Appellant asserted that his statements were not voluntarily given. The thrust
of Appellant’s aigument was that his confession was the byproduct of
coercive police activity. Appellant pointed out that Sergeant Reynolds
repeatedly misstated the legal consequences of admiﬁing to consensual sex

rather than forcible sex. Thus, Appeﬂant concluded that his statement was
obtained in violation of his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination
and must be suppressed.

{12} Appellee filed a response. At the March 19, 2018 suppression

hearing, the State introduced the third interview as State’s Exhibit 1. On
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March 21, 2018, the trial court filed its decision overruling Appellant’s
motion to suppress. The trial court’s ruling stated in pertinent part:
The Court finds that the aétions of Sergeant Reynolds

were notv objectively coercive. He clearly ufged the
Defendant to tell the truth and pointed out to hnn

how the DNA results. were evidence of his having

had sexual intercourse with the alleged vicﬁm. He
informed him that the alleged victim was claiming the
conduct was forcible which he described as rape while
he believed the conduct could have been consensual.
Sergeant Reynolds did not at any time indicate that if
there had been consensual sex rather than forcible sex
that the Defendant would be given any benefit such as
a lesser prison term. He did not promise not to arrest
him if he confessed. When Defendant asked what would
happen if there had been consensual sex the officer
responded that it depended upon the circumstances

and that he could not say what would happen. In short,

there was no coercion, no inducement, no promise made

to the Defendant that if he gave an incriminating statement



Highland App. No. 18CA11 22a 7

that he would receive any berefit legal or otherwise.

{913} On May 9, 2018, Appellant pled no contest to Count Two.
Count One was dismissed. The trial court ordered a pre-sentence
investigation report. On June 7, 2018, the trial court imposed a prison
sentence of seven yéafs. Appeliant was ordered to register as a Tier III sex
offender. This timely appeal followed.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
. “THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED
APPELLANT’S MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS
CONFESSION.”
A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

{14} Appellate review of a motion to suppress presents a mixed
question of law and fact. State v. Leonard, 2017-Ohio-1541, 89 N.E.3d 58
(4th Dist.), at § 15, citing, State v. Gurley, 2015-Ohi0-5361, 54 N.E.3d 768,
9 16 (4th Dist.), citing State v. Roberts, 110 Ohio St.3d 71, 2006-Ohio-3665,
850 N.E.2d 1168, 9 100. At a suppression hearing, the trial court acts as the
trier of fact and is in the best position to resolve factual questions and
evaluate witnes$ cr_ed_ibﬂity. \-Id:.;. State v.. Burnside; 100 Ohio St.3d 152,
2003-Ohic-5372, 7971 NE2d 7;1', ;J 8. Thus,‘when 1:eviéwing a ruling on a
motion to suppress, we vdgfer »:tnojth,e.trial court's findings of fact if they are

supported by competent, credible evidence. Gurley at 9 16, citing State v.
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Landrum, 137 Oth App 3d 718, 722, 739 N.E.2d 1159 (4th Dist. 2000).
However, “[a]ccepting those facts as true, we must independently determine
whether the trial court reached the correct legal conclusion in analyzing the
facts of the case.” Id., citing Roberts at § 100.
| | B. LEGAL ANALYSIS

{MN 5} In the sole a551gnment of error, Appeﬂant contends that the trial
court erred by falhng to suppress his confession to eonsensual sex with A.E.
Appellant argues that Sergeant Reynolds emphas1zed a false distinction
between forcible rape and consensual sex throughout the interview.
Appellant then connects this distinction to Reynolds’ statements suggesting
that in order for Appellant to be reated fairly, or perhaps receive more
lenient treatment, he would need to confess to having consensual sexual
contact. Appellant concludes that his confession was obtained as a result of
police coercion and therefore, his will was overborne, rendering his
confession involuntary. As such, Appellant requests this court find that his
confession was involuntary and to further find that the trial court’s decision
overruling his motion to suppress was in error.

{f16} The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and
Article I, Section 10 of the Ohio Constitution guarantee that no person in

any criminal case shall be compelled to be a witness against himself. The
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Fifth Amendment, as well as the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment, protects against the concern that coerced confessions are
inherently untrustworthy. Leonard, supra, at 9 17, citing Dickerson v.
United States, 530 U.S. 428, 433, 120 S.Ct. 2326, 147L Ed.2d 405 (2000).
“A free and Voluntary confession is deserving of the highest credit, because
it is presumed to flow from the strongest sense of guilt * * * but a confession
forced from the mind by the flattery of hope, or by the torture of fear, comes
in so questionable a éhape % # * that no credit ought to be given to it.”
(Quotation omitted.) /d.

{17} “Voluntariness of & confession is determined based on the
totality of the circumstances.” Leonard, supra, at § 18, quoting, State v.
Perez, 124 Ohio 5t.3d 122, 2009-Ohio-6179, 920 N.E.2d 104, § 71, citing
State v. Edwards, 49 Ohio St.2d 31, 358 N.E.2d 1051 (1976), paragraph two
of the syllabus, vacated on other grounds, 438 U.S. 91 1,98 S.Ct. 3147, 57
L.E.2d 1158 (1978). “However, the use of an inherently coercive tactic by
police is a prerequisite to a finding of involuntariness.” Id., citing Colorado
v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157,167,107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed. 2d 473 (1986). This

court has observed that we need not assess the totality of the circumstances

unless we first find that law enforcement officers or other agents of the state
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used a coercive tactic. Leonard, supra, citing Cornelly, 107 S. Ct. 515,93
L.Ed.2d 473.

{718} “ “To support a determination that a confession was coerced,
the evidence must 'establish that: (1) the police activity was objectively
coercive; (2) thg coercion in question was sufﬁcienfc to overbear defendant's
will; and (3) defendant‘s wiﬂlwas, in fact, overbo?ne as a result of the
coercive police activity.’ " Leonard, supra, at § 19, quoting, State v.
Humphrey, 4th Dist. Ross No. 10CA3150, 201 O—Ohio—595'0, at § 18, vacated
on other grounds, 128 Ohio St.3d 397, 2011-Ohio-1426, 944 N.E.2d 1172,
quoting United States v. Rigsby, 943 F.2d 631, 635 (6th Cir.1991).

The line to be drawn between permissible police
conduct and conduct deemed to induce or tend to
induce an involuntary statement does not depend
upon the bare language of inducement but rather
upon the nature of the benefit to be derived by a
defendant if he speaks the truth, as represented by
the police. Peoplev. Hill, 66 Cal.2d 536, 549, 58

Cal Rptr. 340, 426 P.2d 908; see also State v. Arrington,

14 Ohio App.3d 111, 115, 470 N.E.2d 211 (6th Dist.1984).

{719} As further explained in Hill,
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When the benefit pointed out by the police to a

suspect is merely that which flows naturally from

a truthfulv and honest course of conduct, we can

perceive nothing improper in such police activity.

On the other hand, 1f in addition to the foregoing

benefit, or in the place thereof, the defendant is

given to understand that he might reasonably expect

benefits in the nature of more lenient treatment at the

hands of the police, prosecution or court in consideration

of making a statement, even a truthful one, suc_h‘ motivation

is deemed to render the statement involuntary and inadmissible.
The offer or promise of such benefit need not be expressed,
but may be implied from equivocal language‘not

otherwise made clear. Hill at 549-550, citing People v. Ditson,
57 Cal.2d 415, 432, fn. 5, 20 Cal.Rptr. 165, 173, 369 P.2d 714,
722 (petition for writ of cert. dismissed, Cisnéros v. California,
371 U.S. 937, 83 S.Ct.311,9 L.Ed.2d 273) and

People v. Nelson, 224 Cal.App.2d 238, 245, fn. 3, 36 Cal.Rptr.
385; see also State v. _Arringt‘on, supra, at 115.

{920} This court has also acknowledged that “ ¢ “a promise of lenient
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treatment or of immediate release may be so attractive as to render a
confession involuntary.” * * Leonard, supra, at 20, quoting Humphrey at
1 20, quoting United States v. Wrice, 954 F.2d 406, 411 (6th Cir.1992).

« ‘But we also recognize that promises of leniency may be coercive only if

they are broken or illusory.” ” (Emphasis sic.) Leonard, supra, quoting,
State v. Ellidrt, 4th Dist. Washington No. 10CA21, ‘201 1-Ohto-1746, at 47,
citing Humphrey at § 20, in turn citing United Staz‘es. v. Johnson, 351 F.3d
254,262 (6th Cir.2003). « * “[Flalse promises made by police to a criminal
suspect that he can obtain lenient treatment in exchange for waiving his Fifth
Amendment privilege so undermines the suspect's capacity for self-
determination that his election tc waive the right and incriminate himself in
criminal conduct is fatally impaired. * * * The simple result is that officers

must avoid such promises, which are not proper tools of investigation.
Leonard, supra, quoting, State v. Jackson, 2d Dist. Greene No. 02CA0001,
2002-Ohio-4680, at q 40, quoting State v. Petitjean, 140 Ohio App.3d 517,
534, 748 N.E.2d 133 (2d Dist. 2000).

{121} In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16
Led. 2 694 (1966), the United States Supreme Court applied the protection
of the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination to police

interrogations of individuals in custody. In this case, Appellant
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acknowledged and waived his Miranda rights before Sergeant Reynolds
engaged in a third interview with him. The voluntariness of a confession
presents “ ‘an issue analytically separate from those issues surrounding
custodial interrogations and Mranda wamings.’v » State v. Scholl, 10th Dist.
Franklin No. 12AP-309, 2012-Ohio-6233, at § 7, quoting, State v. Walker,
10th Dist. No. 04AP—1107, 2005-Ohio—3540, citing State v. Kelly, 2d Dist.
No.2004—CA-20, 2005-Ohio—305. See also State v. Martinez, 8th Dist.
Cuyahoga Nos. 103572, 103573, 2016-0Ohio-5515, at .1{ 29. As evidenced by
the recorded interview, Appellant was apprised of his Miranda rights and
signed a waiver. Thus, Miranda is not implicated in this case. We next
proceed to analysis of the voluntariness of Appellant’s confession.

{922} The voluntariness of a confession is a question of law subject to
de novo review. Martinez, supra; State v. Fouts, 4th Dist. Washington No.
15CA2S5, 2016-Ohio-1104, at 1 35; State v. Bohanon, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga
No. 89443, 2008—0hio—1087, 9 9, citing Arizona v. Fulminate, 499 U.S.
279,287, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). As we have set forth
above, unless Sergeant Reynolds _used a coercive tactic, we need not assess

the totality of the circumstances. See Martinez, supra, at 9 30; State v.
Treesh, 90 Ohio St.3d 460, 472, 2001 Ohio 4, 739 N.E.2d 749 (2001); State

v. Perez, 124 Ohio St. 3d 122, 2009-Ohio-6179, 920 N.E.2d 104, at g 71.
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“Evidence of use by the mterrogators of an inherently coercive tactic (e.g.,
physical abuse, threats, deprivation of food, medical treatment, or sleep) will
trigger the totality of the circumstances analysis.” State v. Clark, 38 Ohio
St.3d 252, 261, 527 N.E.2d 844 (1988)

{1]23} The trlal court found thaf Sergeant Reynolds (1) urged
Appellant to tell the truth 2) pomted out the DNA evidence; (3) advised
Appellant tﬁat the victim was claiming force; (4) informed Appellant he
could not give him Iegél advice; (5) at no time indicated tﬁat if Appellant
admitted consensual sex that he would receive a benefit of a lesser prison
term; and (6) at no time promised Appellant that he would not arrest him if
admitted to consensual sex. Appellant has limited his argument to
essentially challenging the finding that he was not promised a benefit if he
admitted to consensual sex. Appellant asserts Sergeant Reynolds obtained
his confession to consensual sex by suggesting that he must do so in order to
be treated fairly. Therefore, we must independently review the trial court’s |
findings to see if they are supported by competent credible‘ evidence.

{f24} At the outset, we have identified and numbered all of Sergeant

Reynolds’ statements preceding Appellant’s confession which are arguably

deceptive and/or coercive. The statements are set forth in the order in which

they occurred in the interview and transcript as follows:
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1.

«[ believe it was probably consensual, and it was just
something where you guys were fooling around, and that
she was okay with it, and then now she wasn’t. I don’t know.”

“My job is to find the truth, man. And if you’re not honest
with me, if you’re not honest with yourself and upfront,

it - - you’re letting whoever tell all the truth or what their
version of the truth is. * * * Right now it looks like AE’s
telling the whole truth and you’re just lying. You know
what I mean?” _ : -

“Right now, ’m worried about AE. claiming you raped
her and you guys probably having consensual sex,
whatever it was.”

«“So I just need you to be honest about what happened. Okay?
And honesty is not absolute what happened, but honesty - - well,
I’m sorry. That—it can’t—it doesn’t absolve what happened.
However, honesty goes.a long way. And if you're not honest,
we’re left to believe only what one side of the story is telling us.”

“If we have the truth from both sides, we can see what happened
clearly, and then we can make a good decision. And you can
even rest easy knowing tha't:you’re being treated fairly - - which
you’re being treated fairly anyway. But, you know, ifyou
know what that (sic.) what happened wasn’t what she says
happened exactly, but you know something did happen but
you’re not letting us know that, you’re laying - - you're laying
your fate in the hopes that we just don’t believe her, when
you’re giving us nothing to believe. You know what I mean?”

«I don’t want you telling me what I want to hear. I don’t want

I don’t want you to tell me what you think T want to hear. Ijust
want- - I’'m just - - ’m a truth seeker. Likel said before, my job
is to find the truth of what happened. * * * [B]ecause, at the end

of the day, I"r‘gxﬂjust trying to do my job fair and finding the truth.”

“[R]ape is you t{_)id ﬁ_e'r if ‘;s:ffriédidn’t do it, you were going to hurt
her, or you forcibly held her down and did it against her will or
you got her intoxicated to the point where she couldn’t know
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what was going on, and you took advantage of her - - which
that’s sexual battery. But certain definitions could be rape.”

8. “So I think that something happened consensual. I think that you
both had consensual intercourse together. * * * I think that
something happened.”

9. “Right now, I'm still trying to figure out whether you and A.E
had sex or not. Not if you raped her, just if you guys had sex.
Because I don’t believe that rape happened. I believe that there
was sex. That’s what I believe. But I can’t go anywhere until
we know what happened. Do you know what I mean?”

10. “I can’t givelegal advice. * * * But, I mean, it could be
anything from whatever the judge decides from - - you know,
it depends on the- - it just depends on the circumstances. ** * You
could go to jail. You could just have to go to court. You could go
to court. You could get - - you know, the judge has the full
discretion. * * * So to be honest with you, I don’t know. I
don’t know. * * * I don’t know what we’re looking at
here. * * * I don’t think we’re looking at a forcible rape.
I don’t think that. You know what I mean? So that
makes a difference.” -

11. “So like I said, honesty doesn’t change what happened,
but honesty definitely goes a long way. So I just need
to know what happened, man.”

12. “[D]efinitely the evidence that exists here says something
happened. I don’t want you to feel like I’'m pressuring you
or anything. So I'm going to actually step out of the roorn.
I’'m going to give you a few minutes just to think by yourself
for a minute. And I’ll bé back in and ask you some questions. |
want you to think about the evidence we have. * * * I can’t
begin to take the next path in my investigation if you’re not
100 percent honest with me. 'And I don’t think you’re being
100 percent honest with me. So like I said, I’ll give youa
minute to breathe, think about it for a minute. * * * Unless you
just want to get this done - - you know what I mean? - - move forward.”
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{125} We begin with Appeﬂant"s “false distinction” argument and
find it to be similar to a “minimization” argument, which was made on
appeal in State v. Fouts, supra. Fouts was convicted of gross sexual
1mp031t10n and attempted unlawful sexual conduct with a minor.

{‘\126} Fouts plcked up a 15-year-old famﬂy fnend in his car to take her
back to his house to spend the mght with his own 15-year-old daughter.
Fouts and his victim had a cioee relationship and' the victim often spent time
at the Fouts’ heme. She even called Mr. and Mrs. Fbuts “mom” and “dad.”
However, instead of taking the victim directly to his home, Fouts drove her
to a secluded wooded area of a high school parking lot and started talking
about pornography and his marital problems. Fouts put the victim on his lap
and kissed her neck. The victim texted Fouts’ daughter during and after the
incident.

{27} At trial, the prosecution introduced screen shots of the victim’s
text messages. The jury also watched aSC-minute videotaped interview
Fouts had with an officer. In the interview, Fouts initially lied about the
incident but changed his story after he was told that security cameras on the
high school parking lot showed his car. On appeal, Fouts argued that the

trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress incriminating statements

he made to police. Fouts argued his statements were involuntary because the
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police engaged in deceptive practices by minimizing the seriousness of the

offense.

{928} In our decision, we observed that deception is a factor that
bears on the Voluntariness ofa défendant’s confession, but “ ‘this factor,
standing aloﬁe, is not dispositive of the issue.” ” Fouts, supra, at § 36,
quoting State v. Wiles, 59 Ohio $t.3d 71, 81,571 N.E.2d 97 (1991).
“I'V]ague and indefinite” statéments do not render a confession involuntary.
Fouts, Supr'a;‘Sta.z‘é v. Osie, 140 Ohio St.3d 131, 149, 2014—0hio—-2966, 16
N.E.3d 588, § 100 reconsideration denied, 140 Ohio St.3d 1455, 2014—
Ohio—4414, 17 N.E.3d 600, ] 100 and cert. denied, 135 S.Ct. 1562, 191
L.Ed.2d 649 (2015). Fouts argued that the investigating officer deceptively
minimized his offense by telling him she did not believe he committed rape.
Regarding this argument, we stated at 9 39:

We find nothing deceptive about this statement; the

officer testified that the minor's factual allegations did

not include rape. The other possible statements in the
record that arguably minimized Fouts's offense were the
officer’s statement that she believed he “made a mistake”
and “mistakes can be fixed”, and her characterization of
what might have happened the night before as “iffy.”
However, we find nothing about those vague and indefinite
statements that would render his confession involuntary.

{729} We further noted at § 40:

Nothing in the officer's interview approaches the level
of conduct necessary to overcome Fouts's will to remain
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silent, or otherwise resulted in a coerced confession. There

was no “badgering” or ibreatening by the officer. The

entire tone of the questioning was casual, conversational,

and cooperative. There was no hint of coercion or duress

during the interview. Nor was there anything improper in

the officer's efforts to create a favorable environment for

a confession. There was nothing false, deceptive or coercing

about her tactic of minimizing the offense by labelling ita

“mistake” and his behavior as “iffy”.

{930} Our decision in Fouts was cited in the Eighth Appellate
District’s decision in Martinez, supra. Martinez appealed a conviction for
importuning in violation of R.C. 2901.07(B)(1). Martinez, a 66 year-old hall
monitor at Parma High School was investigated and indicted after a 15-year-
old female student reported that he had placed his.arm around her shoulder
and made several iﬁappi‘opr_iaté sexual comments to her while escorting her
to class. ~Martiﬁéz gave incriminating staiements to law enforcement officers
at his home and later at the Parma Police Department.

{131} After reviewing the student’s allegations, Detective Sheridan
discussed the matter with Sergeant Zarzeczny, who offered to accompany
him to Martinez’s home. Sergeant Zareczny was familiar with Martinez and
thought Martinez would feel more comfortable answering questions if the
sergeant was presext,. Detective Sheridan secretly recorded the interview

which took place at Martinez’s. kitchen table. Fora time, Martinez’s wife

was present as well. Detective Sheridan informed Martinez of the
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allega‘ltibns agéiﬁst him. .Maz;t.ine;z éckﬁowlédged ﬁe knew the student but
initially deniéd putting his arm around her or making sexual comments.
Approximately 11 minutes into the interview, Mrs. Martinez left the room.

{932} After Mrs. Martinez left, Detective Sheridan told Martinez
“man to man” that he knew he Waé not being truthful. They told him he was
not under arrest because Zarecznyiknew hewasa ‘.‘good guy,’; and they did
not want to arrest h1m They continued to urge him to “man up,” and tell
them “what really happened.” Martinez’ body language during this portion
of the interview was described as “head down in hands,” “pale as a ghost,”
“sweating,” “hard time maintaining eye contact,” and “trembling.”

{933} The detectives continued the interrogation, informing Martinez
that the student was prepared to testify in court, that there was video
surveillance of the incident, and that there was “other evidence” which they
declined to disclose. Approximately 15 minutes into the interview, Martinez
admitted putting his arm around the student and making the alleged
inappropriate sexual comments. Martinez was not informed of his Miranda
rights.

{134} After Martinez confessed, he was informed they needed to go
to the police station‘ Where he could make a more formal confession. There,

Martinez repeated his incriminating statements. While Martinez raised
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issues during a suppression hearing with both interrogations, the trial court
denied Martinez’ motion to suppress. For our purposes, we are concerned
with only analysis of the voluntariness of his at-home interrogation. The
appellate court in Martinez wrote at 9 39:

We have carefully reviewed both the transcript from the suppression
hearing and the audio recording of Martinez’s at-home interrogation.
While the recording demonstrates that officers used various
interrogation tactics to encourage Martinez to “tell the truth” during
the interrogation, including minimizing the conduct involved,
acknowledging what a “good guy” he is, discussing the “evidence”
supporting the victim’s story, urging him to be honest because it could
help him and reminding Martinez that “people make mistakes” and
that he had the love and support of his wife and family who would
“forgive him,” there is nothing to suggest that Martinez was subjected
to any kind of ‘‘inherently. coercive tactic’” that might have made his
statements involuntary and thus excludable.

{935} The appéilate coﬁft also ﬁotéd, as we héve above, that
admonitions to tell the trﬁth afé not coercive in nature. Id. at §32.
“Likewise, a policé officer’s statemént to a suspect that a confession ‘will be
helpful” * * * does not invalidate an otherwiée legél confession.” /d.,
quoting State v. Jowes, 2014-Ohio-4116, 43 N.E. 3d 833, (2ndDist.), at  19.
The trial court also noted.at\ 1{ 33 | |

Moreover, the “i(}téiity of the circumstances” dbes not support the

conclusion that Martinez’s will was overborne. * * * The record

reflects that Martinez was 66 at the time of his confession, was a high
school graduate. * * * Martinez makes no claim that he suffered from

any type of physical disabiiity or mental impairment that impacted the
voluntariness of his confession. * * * [Tlhe at-home interrogation,

from the moment the officers entered Martinez’s home until they left
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the home, lasted less than 30 minutes. * * * At all times during the
interrogation, the officers were calm and respectful towards Martinez
and the tone of their conversation was cooperative. There was no
yelling or screaming by the officers. There was no evidence that
Martinez was physically or verbally abused or threatened, was tricked
or coerced into confessing, was made any promises that induced his
confession or was subjected to any physical deprivation or
mistreatment at any time during the interrogation.

{936} Likewise, in this case, after careful review of the transcript of
the recorded interview, the transcript of the suppression hearing, and the
recorded interview itself, we find no wrong doing by Sergeant Reynolds.
While the evidence at the suppression hearing demonstrates Sergeant
Reynolds utilized various interrogation tactics, including deception, we
agree with the trial court’s ﬁn&ing that the_re was no police coercion nor
promise of a benefit. For the feasons which follow, we hold the trial court’s
finding is supporfed by compété;nt credible evidence in the record.
Appellant’s will was not overborne and we find his confession was
voluntarily made.

{137} In Appellant’s case, Sergeant Reynolds had two prior
interviews with Appellant, which appear to have established a groundwork
of trust between Appellant and the officer. In the third interview, Appellant
appears comfortable and engaged in a back and forth exchange with
Sergeant Reynolds. Also, in the third interview, Se_rgeént Reynolds almost

immediately informs Appellant about the DNA evidence and A.E.’s claim of
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force. Thereafter, vSerﬁgéant Reynolds does utilize deceptive, vague, and
indefinite statements in order to elicit Appellant’s incriminating statements.

{738} In the third interview, Sergeant Reynolds, early on, sets the
stage for the “false distinction” by telling Appellant that he believes that
Appellant engaged in consensual conduct. Quickly following are multiple
instances where Sergeant Reynolds urged Appellant to tell the truth.
Reynolds repeatedly emphasizes the importance of honesty in Statements 1,
4,5,6,11, and 12. -In Statement 6, Reynolds refers to himself as a truth-
seeker. In State v. Adkins, 4th Dist. Scioto No. 2010CA3367, 201 I-Ohio-
5360, we observed that “ ‘[A]n admonition to tell the truth” ” is neither a
promise nor a threat, and is completely permissible during an interrogation.
Id at 48, quoting, State v. Cooey, 46 Ohio St.3d 20, 28, 544 N.E.2d 895
(1989)(superseded on other grounds). See also State v. Wiles, 59 Ohio St.3d
71, 80-81, 571 N.E.2d 97 (1991) (following Cooey and holding that
“admonitions to tell the truth directed at a suspect by police officers are not
coercive in nature.”).

{739} The record also reflects multiple instances in which Sergeant

Reynolds persists in making the not fully defined distinction between rape

and consensual sex. He alludes to a distinction in Statements 1, 3, and 9.

Statement 7 is extremely deceptive in its vagueness and incompleteness.
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Reynolds describes two factual scenarios in which rape or battery would
occur, concluding “[b]ut certain definitions could be rape.” Reynolds does
not include the definition of rape when it involves consensual sex with a
minor person., R.C. 2907.02(A)(2), which provides that “[n]o person shall
engage in sexual conduct with another wﬁo is not the spouse of the offender
* % * ywhen * * * [tlhe other persoﬁ is less than thirteen years of age, whether
or not the offender knows the age of the other person.”

{ﬂ40} Stétement .10 is deceptiile in its vaguenéss. Reynolds states: “I
don’t think we’re looking at a forcible rape. Idon’t think that. You know
what I mean? So that makes a difference.” Reynolds does not explain the
difference nor does Appellant ask for an explanation.

{941} After setting up the “consensual sexual conduct” scenario,
Sergeant Reynolds urges Appellant to confess to consensual sex. In
Statements 2, 3, 4, and 5, Sergeant Reynolds suggests that if Appellant
doesn’t tell his side of the story, A.E.’s story will automatically be believed.
Reynolds urges Appellarit to “get [his]version of the truth” out because by
failing to do so, Appellant is “laying his fate in the hopes that we just don’t

believe her, when you’re giving us nothing to believe.” These statements
are deceptive in the sense that there was no reason that Appellant had to tell

his side of the story on that date. If Appellant was charged and arrested, he
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could always arrange to give a siatement at a later date. However, in Adkins,

sizpra, at § 49, we have also observed iﬁat deception is not “per se” coercive.

{142} Appellant has also directed us to Statement 5, where he was
exhorted to tell his story so that he could even “rest easy knowing that
you’re being treated fairly- - which you’re being treated fairly anyway.”
While S‘tatemeﬁt 10 is‘ éx’cremely deéeptive and Statement 5 is deceptive in
its vague reassurance, we agree with the trial court that the record is devoid
of any promises of leniency in the event Appellant confessed to consensual
sex.

{143} The only statement which alludes to any outcome in Appellant’s
case is Statement 10, where Sergeant Reynolds delineates potential

outcomes. Reynolds describes the open-ended nature of the outcome as

follows:

I mean, it could be anything from whatever the judge

decides * * * you know it just depends on the

circumstances. * * * You could go to jail. You could

just have to go to court.
It is clear Reynolds makes no promise of leniency when he acknowledges:
“[TThe judge has the full disc.-re‘iiibn..*'* * 1 don’t knbw, [ don’t know. * * * 1
don’t know what we’re looking at here.” Appellant also asked, “Like what

happens if we did have sex?” In Statement 10, Sergeant Reynolds

responded that he could not give" légal advice.
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{944} In Scholl, supra, »; 9 15, the appellate court held, “Admissions
[sic] to tell the truth are not coercive; the use of deceitful tactics is not
dispositive but only a factor; and suggestions of leniency, promises that
cooperation will be considered, and statements thaf: confessions will be
helpful do not irxva}idate' an otherwise legal confeséion.’5 See also State v.
Carovillano, 1st Dist. No. C-060658, 2007-Ohio—5459, § 25; (internal
citations omitted.) Similarly, oh the record before us, we find only
exhortations to tell the truth; deception in the form of vague or indefinite
statements; and suggestions that “honesty goes a long way.” We agree with
the trial court’s finding and do not find Se;geant Reynolds’ conduct was

coercive.

{945} Moreover, the evidence demonstrates that Appellant was a 19-
year-old high school graduate. Appellant confessed approximately 15-20
minutes into the interview with Sergeant Reynolds, after engaging in back
and forth questions and answers. The evidence does not demonstrate
Appellant was physically deprived or mistreated. Sergeant Reynolds did not
yell or scream at Appellant. The recorded interview shows a young adult

man, not a juvenile, who could have ended the interview or requested an

attorney early on. Despite his young age and unsophisticated manner, we
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cannot say that Appellant’s confession was obtained in an illegal or coercive
manner.

{J46} For the foregoing reasons, we find no merit to Appellant’s
argument that his confession was the product of coercive police conduct and
therefore, not voluntarily madé. Accordingly, we 6{fefrule the sole

assignment of error and affirm the judgment of the trial court.

' JUDGMENT AFFIRMED.
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JUDGMENT ENTRY

It is ordered that the JUDGMENT BE AFFIRMED and costs be
assessed to Appellant.

The Court finds there were reasonable grounds for this appeal.

It is ordered that a special mandate issue out of this Court directing
the Highland County Common Pleas Court to carry this judgment into
execution.

IF A STAY OF EXECUTION OF SENTENCE AND RELEASE
UPON BAIL HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY GRANTED BY THE TRIAL
COURT OR THIS COURT, it is temporarily continued for a period not to
exceed sixty days upon the bail previously posted. The purpose of a
continued stay is to allow Appellant to file with the Supreme Court of Ohio
an application for a stay during the pendency of proceedings in that court. It
a stay is continued by this entry, it will terminate at the earlier of the
expiration of the sixty day period, or the failure of the Appellant to file a
notice of appeal with the Supreme Court of Ohio in the forty-five day appeal
period pursuant to Rule I1, Sec. 2 of the Rules of Practice of the Supreme
Court of Ohio. Additionally, if the Supreme Court of Ohio dismisses the
appeal prior to expiration of sixty days, the stay will terminate as of the date
of such dismissal.

A certified copy of this entry shall constitute the mandate pursuant to
Rule 27 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Abele, J. & McFarland, J.: Concur in Judgment and Opinion.

BY: — ,
M Presiding Judge

NOTICE TO COUNSEL

Pursuant to Local Rule No.v 14, this document constitutes a final
judgment entry and the time period for further appeal commences from
the date of filing with the clerk.
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
‘ HIGHLAND COUNTY, OHIO

STATE OF OHIO R CASENO: 17CR212

Plaintiff : DECISION OVERRULING
MOTION TO SEP RESS

~ COMMON PLEA
SER Bt sstar

MAR 2 1 20i8

Defendant : s

V.

BENJAMIN MCCLELLAN

This cause came on for hearing the 19% day of March JGEBA0UNY peardapwls motion to
suppress filed February 23, 2018. Defendant appeared represented by Adam Burke and Andrew
J. Meis, Attorneys at Law, (}oiumbus, Ohio. Highiand County Prosecuting Attorney Anneka
Collins appeared on behalf of the State of Ohio. After presentation of the evidence and
arguments of counsel, the Court announced its decision on the record overruling the motion for
the reasons set forth in the record and additionally as set forth in this decision.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Sergeant Aaron Reynolds was investigating a report of sexual conduct between the
Defendant and a minor who was twelve years old and turned thirteen during the period of the
alleged acts. Sergeant Reynolds had obtained DNA samples from the Defendant which
apparently matched DNA found on clothing of the alleged victim. On October 27, 2016, the
Defendant was interviewed by Sergeant Reynolds in one of the interview rooms of the Hillsboro
Police Department. A DVD recording of the interview was admitted as State’s Ex. 1.

During the interview, Sergeant Reynolds advised the Defendant that the DNA test
showed his “sperm” in the alleged victim’s shorts and on bed sheets from her residence. The

Defendant responded by saying that he never had sex with. Reynolds told the Defendant that the
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alleged victim had alleged that the Defendant had forced her to have sex but that the officer
believed that there may have been consensual sex rather than forcible sex.

The officer stated ;‘honesty goes a long way” and that if he had honest information from
both sides that he could make a better decision as to what had occurred between the Defendant
and the alleged victim. He urged the Defendant to tell him the truth, not just what Defendant
believed “what I want to hear”. Reynolds later stated that he did not believe that the Defendant
had raped her but rather had consensual sex with her.,

The Defendant asked Reynolds what would happen if they had sex and Reynolds advised
him that it depended upon the circumstances. He further informed the Defendant he could not
give him legal advice. After approximately fifteen minutes into the interview, the Defendant
stated to Sergeant Reynolds that he had engaged in consensual sexual intercourse with the
alleged victim one time in the bathroom. He denied any other sexual conduct with her and
denied the sex occurred in the bedroom.

After the admission, Sergeant Reynolds left the interview réom to contact the Prosecutor
and returned after a few minutes. Upon his return, Reynolds advised the Defendant he would be
arrested and gave him a voluntary statement form to write a statement.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

The Defendant argues that the statements made by Sergeant Reynolds constituted an offer
of a benefit to the Defendant because if he did not make a statement they would have no choice
but to believe the alleged victim’s statements. He argues that he was led to reasonably believe

that he would receive more lenient treatment if admitted to consensual sex rather than forcible

sex. He argues that the fact that he was charged with two counts of Rape shows that he did not
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receive the promised benefit and therefore his statements were not made voluntarily but were
unlawfully coerced. These arguments are based solely upon the evidence in State’s Exhibit 1.

The test for determining whether a Defendant’s statements were coerced consists of three
elements: (1) that the actions of the police officer were objectively coercive; (2) that the coercion
was sufficient to overbear the defendant’s will; and (3) the Defendant’s will was in fact
overborne as a result of the coercion, State v. Humphrey, 2010-Ohio-5950, State v. Leonard,
2017-Ohio-1541. In determining whether a statement was given voluntarily the court must
consider the “totality of the circumstances” and look at various factors such as the defendant’s
age, mentality, length, intensity and frequency of interrogation, physical deprivation or
mistreatment and any threats or inducements, State v Humphrey, supra.

The Court finds that the actions of Sergeant Reynolds were not objectively coercive, He
clearly urged the Defendant to tell the truth and pointed out to him how the DNA results were
evidence of his having had sexual intercourse with the alleged victim. He informed him that the
alleged victim was claiming the conduct was forcible which he described as rape while he
believed the conduct could have been consensual. Sergeant Reynolds did not at any time
indicate that if there had been consensual sex rather than forcible sex that the Defendant would
be given any benefit such as a lesser prison term. He did not promise not to arrest him if he
confessed.

When the Defendant asked what would happened if there had been consensual sex the
officer responded that it depended upon the circumstances and that he could not say what would
happen. In short, there was no coercion, no inducement, no promise made to the Defendant that

if he gave an incriminating statement that he would receive any benefit legal or otherwise.
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The incriminating statements were made approximately fifteen minutes into the
interview. The Defendant was obﬁousiy aware of his constitutional rights as indicated at the
beginning of the interview. There was no physical mistreatment or deprivation. There is no
evidence that the Defendant’s will was overcome.

Therefore, it is the opinion of the Court that the motion to suppress is without merit and is
hereby overruled.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

RockyA. Coss, Judge
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